RECEIVED

May 18 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Charles B. Simmons, Master-In-Equity

Opinion No. 2026-UP-057 (S.C. Ct. App. filed February 11, 2026)

NASSCO, Inc., Respondent,

v.

Byunghwan Chay a/k/a Bjorn Chay and Michelle Mihyang Chay, Defendants,

Of whom Byunghwan Chay is the Petitioner.

Appellate Case No. 2024-001489

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

Adam Sinclair Ruffin
SC Bar No. 101350
1320 Main Street, Suite 300
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 470-5629
adam@ruffinappeals.com

Attorney for Byunghwan Chay

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in holding that Mr. Chay lacked standing to appeal as an “aggrieved party” under Rule 201(b), SCACR, where the Master-in-Equity’s order voided Mr. Chay’s conveyance of his property interest, thereby directly affecting his legal right to dispose of his property?

2.

Whether the Master-in-Equity erred in finding that Mr. Chay’s transfer to Ms. Chay of his half-interest ownership in a home was fraudulent in violation of the Statute of Elizabeth?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This petition for a writ of certiorari stems from an order voiding a deed pursuant to the Statute of Elizabeth.

NASSCO, Inc. filed a summons and complaint in the Greenville County Circuit Court against Byunghwan Chay (Mr. Chay) and his ex-wife Michelle Chay on October 11, 2023. (R. 13). NASSCO sought to set aside a quitclaim deed signed by Mr. Chay which conveyed his half-ownership of a home to his ex-wife pursuant to S.C. Code § 27-23-10—the Statute of Elizabeth.

NASSCO had previously obtained a \$400,000 judgment against Mr. Chay and his company, Natural Solutions, in the United States District Court. (R. 89). That judgment was entered on December 2, 2021, and then transcribed in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas on May 19, 2022. (R. 91 – 92).

On May 16, 2022, and again on May 23, 2022, Mr. Chay conveyed his fifty-percent ownership of the house he shared with his wife to her and filed the quitclaim deed in the Register of Deeds Office of Greenville County. (R. 97 – 103). NASSCO alleged that this deed transfer was done for the purpose of avoiding its efforts to collect the judgment against Mr. Chay and asked the circuit court to set aside the deed transfer. (R. 14 – 18).

The Greenville Clerk of Court referred the case to the Honorable Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master-in-Equity. The case was tried on July 2, 2024. Jonathan Waller represented NASSCO and Jason Ward represented Mr. and Ms. Chay. (R. 22).

Ms. Chay testified at the hearing that she married Mr. Chay in 1984, and she purchased the home that is the subject of this litigation on April 8, 2008. (R. 93 – 94). Ms. Chay purchased the home with her own money, but Mr. Chay asked to be added to the deed. Ms. Chay agreed to add Mr. Chay to the deed because he was her husband and the father of her children and she did not want to cause problems in their marriage. (R. 43, l. 22 – 44, l. 7).

Ms. Chay started a beauty supply business which she ran for another sixteen years which she sold during the COVID pandemic for \$380,000. She hoped to retire with this money. (R. 35, l. 13). Ms. Chay was the sole owner of her business and Mr. Chay did not own any part of it. (R. 58, ll. 4 – 10). Mr. Chay started several different businesses, but according to Ms. Chay, none of them were successful. (R. 34, l. 13 – 35, l. 12; R. 38, ll. 4 – 6). Mr. Chay's most recent business was importing gloves from Thailand and Vietnam. (R. 39, ll. 8 – 24). The name of that business was Natural Solutions Company International, Inc. Ms. Chay was not aware who Mr. Chay was in business with and was not aware of any debts that he had. In fact, Ms. Chay believed her husband's business was going well. (R. 39, l. 25 – 40, l. 6).

Ms. Chay testified that she repeatedly told Mr. Chay not to touch their retirement money. (R. 40, ll. 7 – 11). She also had “no idea” how much money Mr. Chay owed to creditors at the time of trial or in May of 2022. (R. 40, ll. 18 – 23). In May of 2022, Ms. Chay discovered that Mr. Chay was being unfaithful to her and confronted him about it. (R. 40, l. 24 – 20, l. 5; R. 42, ll. 3 – 6). Mr. Chay admitted to being unfaithful and to taking their retirement money without telling her. (R. 41, ll. 5 – 9). Ms. Chay was unaware that Mr. Chay had drained their bank account because Mr. Chay handled their finances. She allowed Mr. Chay to handle their finances because he spoke better English than her and was more comfortable going to the bank. (R. 41, ll. 10 – 24).

When Ms. Chay found out about Mr. Chay being unfaithful to her and taking their retirement money, she decided to divorce him. (R. 42, ll. 7 – 25). Mr. Chay was already spending most of the year overseas in Thailand or Vietnam and Ms. Chay said that within a couple of months of her finding out about Mr. Chay cheating and taking the money, they separated. R. 43, ll. 1 – 18.

Ms. Chay demanded that Mr. Chay transfer his half-interest in their marital home back to her to repay her for the money that he had taken from their retirement account. (R. 43, ll. 19 – 21). Ms. Chay recalled that it was “the least thing he could do.” (R. 43, ll. 21 – 23). Mr. Chay transferred his half-interest in the property back to Ms. Chay on May 16 and again on May 23, 2022. (R. 97 – 103). The deed listed the consideration as one dollar “and/or other good and valuable consideration.” *Id.* Ms. Chay explained that the amount of money Mr. Chay had taken from their accounts was more than half the value of the house but she agreed to accept the deed as satisfaction because she just wanted Mr. Chay out of her life. She said that Mr. Chay “owes a lot more” but that she just wanted to move on with her life. (R. 53, l. 19 – 54, l. 11).

When Ms. Chay decided to divorce Mr. Chay because of his infidelity and his withdrawing significant amounts of their money without her knowledge, he moved out of their home. (R. 52, ll.

5 – 20). Although Mr. Chay did not want to be divorced from Ms. Chay, he agreed because it was what Ms. Chay wanted. (R. 53, ll. 3 – 5). Mr. and Ms. Chay’s divorce was finalized in September of 2023. (R. 221). The divorce decree indicated that there was no marital property or debt. Ms. Chay retained sole ownership of the home. (R. 53, ll. 6 – 23).

In its final order, the Master found that the conveyance by Mr. Chay to Ms. Chay of his half-interest in the home was without consideration. (R. 3 – 4). The Master further found that the transfer was an intra-family transfer which placed the burden on the Defendants to prove that the transfer was not fraudulent. (R. 4). The Master concluded that the Defendants had not presented credible evidence that Mr. Chay was indebted to Ms. Chay or that Ms. Chay had forgiven the debt as consideration for the deed transfer. *Id.* Finally, the Master concluded that the lack of evidence presented by Mr. Chay convinced him that Mr. Chay failed to retain sufficient funds to satisfy the debt owed to NASSCO. The Master therefore found that the deed transfer violated the Statute of Elizabeth and ordered the transfer be voided. (R. 5 – 6).

The Court of Appeals affirmed the Master-in-Equity’s order. *NASSCO, Inc. v. Chay*, Op. No. 2026-UP-057 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 11, 2026). The Court of Appeals did not reach the merits of Mr. Chay’s arguments. Instead, the Court of Appeals held that Mr. Chay lacked standing to appeal because he “does not qualify as an ‘aggrieved party’” under Rule 201(b), SCACR. The Court of Appeals reasoned that Mr. Chay had relinquished his interest in the residence and was divorced from Ms. Chay at the time NASSCO commenced litigation.

Mr. Chay filed a petition for rehearing on February 26, 2026, which was denied on April 16, 2026.

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court of Appeals erred in holding that Mr. Chay lacked standing to appeal as an “aggrieved party” under Rule 201(b), SCACR, because the Master-in-Equity’s order voided Mr. Chay’s conveyance of his property interest, thereby directly affecting his legal right to dispose of his property.

A. The Court of Appeals’ holding that Mr. Chay lacked standing is inconsistent with the purpose of the Statute of Elizabeth and principles of property rights.

The Court of Appeals held that Mr. Chay lacked standing to appeal, finding that he “does not qualify as an ‘aggrieved party.’” *Chay* at 2. Specifically, the Court concluded that “[a]t the time NASSCO commenced the present litigation, [Mr. Chay] had relinquished his interest in the residence, and the family court had entered a final order divorcing [Mr. Chay] and [Ms. Chay]; therefore, [Mr. Chay] was not aggrieved by the master-in-equity’s order because it did not affect his rights or interest.” *Id.*

The purpose of the Statute of Elizabeth is to undo relinquishments of interests in property to protect a creditor’s access to the property to satisfy a debt. *See* S.C. Code § 27-23-10 (“[e]very . . . conveyance of lands . . . for any intent or purpose to delay, hinder, or defraud creditors . . . must be deemed and taken . . . to be clearly and utterly void”). It is therefore unsurprising that Mr. Chay had relinquished his interest in the residence prior to NASSCO bringing the current litigation. That relinquishment was *the subject of the litigation*. NASSCO brought the current litigation for the sole purpose of undoing Mr. Chay’s relinquishment in the residence. This is true of all cases brought pursuant to the Statute of Elizabeth that seek to void an earlier transfer of property. NASSCO was successful in this endeavor resulting in the voiding of Mr. Chay’s relinquishment of his interest in the property. Accordingly, Mr. Chay is an aggrieved party. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §

18-1-30 (“Any party aggrieved may appeal”); *Cisson v. McWhorter*, 255 S.C. 174, 178, 177 S.E.2d 603, 605 (1970) (“an aggrieved party is one who is injured in a legal sense; one who has suffered an injury to person or property”).

The voiding of a conveyance pursuant to the Statute of Elizabeth is an injury to the person who sought to convey the property in the manner they wished to convey it. One of the “bundle of rights” that a property owner possesses is the right to transfer the property to another of his choosing. See *Macaulay v. Wachovia Bank of S.C., N.A.*, 351 S.C. 287, 295, 569 S.E.2d 371, 376 (Ct. App. 2002) (“an important element of the ownership of property is the right of the owner to convey it on any terms within her intention”) (internal alteration omitted) (quoting *Avant v. Johnson*, 231 S.C. 119, 133, 97 S.E.2d 396, 403 (1957); *Rogers-Kent, Inc. v. Gen. Elec. Co.*, 231 S.C. 636, 644, 99 S.E.2d 665, 668 (1957) (“Property in a thing consists not merely in its ownership and possession, but in the unrestricted right of use, enjoyment, and disposal. Anything which destroys one or more of these elements of property to that extent destroys the property itself”) (emphasis added) (quoting *Gasque v. Conway*, 194 S.C. 15, 21, 8 S.E.2d 871, 873 (1940)).

If the Court of Appeals were correct that a party who relinquished his rights in a property lacks standing to appeal a lower court’s order which voided this relinquishment on the basis that the party had relinquished his right to the property, a debtor/grantor of property could never have standing to appeal a lower court’s ruling voiding a conveyance on the basis that it violated the Statute of Elizabeth. The attempted transfer of an ownership interest in property is a prerequisite to a Statute of Elizabeth claim. A court’s order which voids the transfer exposes the asset to seizure by the creditor and deprives the debtor/grantor of his legal right to dispose of the property as he wishes. Thus the debtor/grantor is aggrieved when a lower court voids his attempted conveyance.

B. The Court of Appeals' holding is inconsistent with prior case law allowing debtor/grantors to appeal lower court rulings that have voided attempted transfers of property under the Statute of Elizabeth.

The Court of Appeals' holding in this case is inconsistent with South Carolina case law. Consider *First Citizens Bank & Tr. Co. v. Park at Durbin Creek*, 419 S.C. 333, 797 S.E.2d 409 (Ct. App. 2017), in which a debtor/grantor transferred, i.e., relinquished, his ownership interests in real estate to an LLC. *Id.* at 337, 797 S.E.2d at 411. The debtor also transferred his ownership interests in the LLC to his ex-wife and daughters. *Id.* at 338, 797 S.E.2d at 412. When the creditor (First Citizens) sought to collect their debt, it discovered the transfers and asked the circuit court to set aside the transfers on the grounds that they violated the Statute of Elizabeth. *Id.*

The circuit court in *Park at Durbin Creek* set aside the transfers and the debtor/grantor appealed. *Id.* at 338-39, 797 S.E.2d at 412. While the Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's order setting aside the transfers on the merits, it did not hold—as it did in Mr. Chay's case—that the debtor/grantor lacked appellate standing because he had relinquished his rights in the property. *Id.* at 343, 797 S.E.2d at 414. This makes sense because the relinquishment of the interest in the property was voided by the lower court. Accordingly, the interest in the property relinquished was reinstated by the lower court's order.

Consider also *Judy v. Judy*, 403 S.C. 203, 742 S.E.2d 672 (Ct. App. 2013). In *Judy*, the debtor/grantor transferred his interests in various pieces of real and personal property to his sons, thereby relinquishing his own property interests in them. *Id.* at 206-07, 742 S.E.2d at 674. The creditors sued to set aside the conveyances as having violated the Statute of Elizabeth and the lower court voided the conveyances. *Id.* at 207, 742 S.E.2d at 674. Interestingly, in *Judy*, the debtor/grantor argued on appeal that the creditors did not have standing because they were subsequent creditors and were not protected by the Statute of Elizabeth. The *Judy* Court disagreed,

finding that subsequent creditors are protected by the Statute of Elizabeth and do have standing to seek to void a conveyance to collect a debt. *Id.* at 209-10, 742 S.E.2d at 676. Nowhere in the *Judy* opinion is there any suggestion that the debtor/grantor lacked appellate standing because he relinquished his rights in the property.

The Court of Appeals did not cite to any case that found a debtor/grantor lacked appellate standing when a lower court has voided a transfer that he attempted on the basis that he relinquished his interest in the property. The closest thing the Court of Appeals pointed to was its decision in *Powell v. Green*, 281 S.C. 358, 315 S.E.2d 183 (Ct. App. 1984), a case that was not about the Statute of Elizabeth (defrauding of creditors) but was instead about section 27-23-20 (defrauding of purchasers). Even if *Powell* had dealt with the Statute of Elizabeth, the Court in *Powell* only held that a wife who transferred her interest in the marital home to her sons during divorce proceedings was not an indispensable party to a subsequent lawsuit brought by the sons to partition the property held by the ex-husband. *Id.* at 359, 315 S.E.2d at 183-84. The holding in *Powell* does not suggest that a debtor/grantor whose attempted transfer of property is voided by a lower court lacks *appellate standing* to appeal the voiding of his attempted transfer. The Court of Appeals erred in finding Mr. Chay lacked appellate standing and this Court should grant this petition for a writ of certiorari and reverse.

C. Mr. Chay is aggrieved by the lower court’s decision because it voided his attempt to transfer his half-interest ownership in a home to his ex-wife.

Here, Mr. Chay sought to transfer his ownership interest in property to his ex-wife. Transferring property you own in a manner you see fit is a legal right. The Master-In-Equity’s ruling voided this transfer. *See Alderman v. Alderman*, 178 S.C. 9, 44, 181 S.E. 897, 911 (1935) (“One of the main incidents of property is its transferability. The power of disposing of stock, like the power of disposing of any other property, is a common right, and necessarily attaches to

ownership”). It is difficult to see how the Master-In-Equity’s ruling does not bear directly upon Mr. Chay’s legal right to transfer his interest in the property. The Master-In-Equity’s ruling reinstated Mr. Chay’s half-interest in the marital home—an interest Mr. Chay attempted to relinquish to a specific person for a specific reason. To the extent that he relinquished his interest in the property, the order under appeal has undone that relinquishment. The Court of Appeals’ conclusion that he lacks appellate standing because he relinquished his interest in the property is belied by the lower court’s ruling itself which found that Mr. Chay’s relinquishment was void.

Accordingly, Mr. Chay is an aggrieved party. The Court of Appeals erred in finding Mr. Chay lacked appellate standing and this Court should grant this petition for a writ of certiorari to ensure litigants are not wrongly shut out of court based on erroneous interpretations of standing doctrine.

2.

The Master-in-Equity erred in finding that Mr. Chay’s transfer to Ms. Chay of his half-interest ownership in a home was fraudulent in violation of the Statute of Elizabeth.

The Statute of Elizabeth provides that “[e]very . . . conveyance of lands . . . for any intent or purpose to delay, hinder, or defraud creditors . . . must be deemed and taken . . . to be clearly and utterly void.” S.C. Code § 27-23-10.

Conveyances must be set aside under the Statute of Elizabeth in two broad circumstances. First, if the conveyance is supported by valuable consideration but is made with the actual intent to defraud and that intent is imputable to the grantee, the conveyance must be set aside. *Future Grp. v. Nationsbank*, 324 S.C. 89, 96, 478 S.E.2d 45, 49 (1996). The second circumstance which requires a conveyance to be set aside is where the conveyance is made without the intent to defraud but also without consideration. *Oskin v. Johnson*, 400 S.C. 390, 397, 735 S.E.2d 459, 463 (2012).

When the challenged conveyance was without consideration, “the transfer will be set aside if the plaintiff shows that (1) the grantor was indebted to him at the time of the transfer; (2) the conveyance was voluntary; and (3) the grantor failed to retain sufficient property to pay the indebtedness to the plaintiff in full - not merely at the time of the transfer, but in the final analysis when the creditor seeks to collect his debt.” *Durham v. Blackard*, 313 S.C. 432, 437, 438 S.E.2d 259, 262 (Ct. App. 1993).

“Where transfers to members of the family are attacked either upon the ground of actual fraud or on account of their voluntary character, the law imposes the burden on the transferee to establish both a valuable consideration and the bona fides of the transaction by clear and convincing testimony.” *Gardner v. Kirven*, 184 S.C. 37, 54, 191 S.E. 814, 821 (1937).

A. The deed transfer from Mr. Chay to Ms. Chay was supported by consideration.

If a conveyance is supported by consideration, “it will be set aside if the plaintiff establishes that (1) the transfer was made by the grantor with the actual intent of defrauding his creditors; (2) the grantor was indebted at the time of the transfer; and (3) the grantor’s intent is imputable to the grantee.” *Mathis v. Burton*, 319 S.C. 261, 264-65, 460 S.E.2d 406, 408 (Ct. App. 1995) (quoting *Durham v. Blackard*, 313 S.C. 432, 437, 438 S.E.2d 259, 262 (Ct. App. 1993)). “The Statute of Elizabeth is concerned with the intent of the grantor who conveys an interest in land.” *Oskin*, 400 S.C. at 398, 735 S.E.2d at 464. However, to set aside a deed based on fraudulent intent, it must be shown both that the grantor intended to defraud the creditor, and that the grantee participated in that fraudulent purpose. *McDaniel v. Allen*, 265 S.C. 237, 243, 217 S.E.2d 773, 776 (1975).

In *Windsor Props., Inc. v. Dolphin Head Constr.*, this Court was faced with a situation in which a husband’s company, of which he was the sole owner, deeded property to his wife while he owed money to another company. 331 S.C. 466, 498 S.E.2d 858 (1998). The deed in question read

that the property was given for “[f]ive dollars *and no other consideration.*” *Id.* at 468, 498 S.E.2d at 859 (emphasis added). The husband had hired an attorney to prepare the deed who testified that he “may have asked if there were any consideration being passed, and [he] was told no.” *Id.* The wife testified that she did not pay anything when the deed was given to her. *Id.*

The creditor in *Windsor* filed an action against husband, wife, and husband’s company, alleging that the conveyance violated the Statute of Elizabeth because it was made without consideration. *Id.* at 469, 498 S.E.2d at 859. The special referee found that the deed was supported by consideration and the creditor appealed that finding. *Id.* at 469-70, 498 S.E.2d at 860. The husband and wife argued on appeal that the deed transfer was supported by “thousands of dollars [wife] advanced for the purchase and renovation” of the property in question. *Id.* at 471, 498 S.E.2d at 860. This Court reversed, finding that there was not clear and convincing evidence that the conveyance was supported by consideration. This Court specifically found that there was no documentary evidence that wife had actually made payments on renovations. Additionally, this Court noted that wife’s position on appeal was different from her position at trial which was that she had already repaid the creditor.

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