RECEIVED

Jun 17 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master-in-Equity

Opinion No. 2026-UP-057 (S.C. Ct. App. filed February 11, 2026)

NASSCO, Inc., Respondent,

v.

Byunghwan Chay a/k/a Bjorn Chay and Michelle Mihyang Chay, Defendants,

Of whom Byunghwan Chay is the Petitioner.

Appellate Case No.: 2024-001489

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

Jonathan D. Waller
SC Bar No. 76290
156 Laurens Street NW
Aiken, South Carolina 29801
803-226-9089
jwaller@hawklawgroup.com

Aaron J. Angell
18 East North Street
Suite 402
Greenville, SC 29601

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

II. The findings of the Master-in-Equity should not be subject to review based on the “Law of the Case” doctrine.

This findings of the Master should not be subject to review by this Court based on the “Law of the Case” doctrine. Michelle Chay is no longer a party to this appeal, having had her appeal dismissed by Order dated October 11, 2024. R. 10. “It is a fundamental rule of law that an appellate court will affirm a ruling by a lower court if the offended party does not challenge that ruling.” *Biales v. Young*, 315 S.C. 166, 432 S.E.2d 482 (1993); *Lindsay v. Lindsay*, 328 S.C. 329, 491 S.E.2d 583 (S.C. App. 1997). The trial court correctly held that Michelle Chay, as the intra-family transferee, bore the burden of proof to establish the bona fides of the transaction. It is well-established that “where transfers to members of the family are attacked either upon the ground of actual fraud or on account of their voluntary character, the law imposes the burden on the transferee to establish both a valuable consideration and the bona fides of the transaction by clear and convincing testimony.” *Windsor Properties, Inc. v. Dolphin Head Construction*, 331 S.C. 466, 498 S.E.2d 858 (S.C. 1997) (quoting, *Gardner v Kirven*, 184 S.C. 37, 41, 191 S.E. 814, 816 (1937). While Petitioner’s Statement of the Case attempts to frame the burden, and the Master’s findings, as on the “Defendants”, the law is clear that the burden of proof falls on the intra-family transferee. (Petition at 4).

Further, as the valuable consideration alleged was the forgiveness of a debt, Michelle Chay, as transferee is required to show, by **clear and convincing evidence** (1) that Byunghwan

Chay had indeed become indebted to her, the grantee, along with the amount; (2) that the conveyance in question, though voluntary on its face, was in fact made in payment of such indebtedness. (emphasis added). The trial court found that she failed to meet that burden. By failing to pursue appellate review of the trial court's ruling, Ms. Chay has abandoned the issue. Failure to challenge the ruling "is an abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal." *Biales v. Young*, 315 S.C at 168, 432 S.E.2d at 484. Any findings or rulings, specific to Michelle Chay, and her burden of proof, must be affirmed because she is not a party to this appeal. The unchallenged ruling, "right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance." *Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co.*, 255 S.C. 159, 161, 177 S.E.2d 544, 544 (1970).

III. Petitioner raises issues and arguments not preserved for appeal.

Petitioner sought to introduce new argument in his appeal, as he does in this Petition, which were not raised to the Master, either during the hearing or by post-trial motion, and should therefore not be considered. It is "axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). For the first time in his brief to the Court of Appeals, Petitioner attempts to characterize his and Michelle Chay's relationship at the time of the transfer not as husband and wife, or even family members, but rather as "adverse litigants in a divorce proceeding." Petition at 11. Not only is this issue not preserved for appellate review, but it is factually incorrect. Michelle Chay filed her Complaint for Divorce against Mr. Chay on July 19, 2023 as shown in the Final Order of Divorce. R. 221. The Final Order of Divorce was filed on September 14, 2023 and notes the date Mr. and Mrs. Chay separated as May 28, 2022, after the execution and recording of the deeds at issue in this case. R. 221. Michelle Chay testified that she discovered her husband's infidelity as well as the

status of their finances “sometime around Mother’s Day” 2022². R. 42, ll. 5 – 6. She went on to testify they separated within a couple of months after she discovered he had withdrawn their funds. R. 43, ll. 10 – 18. It is disingenuous, at best, for Petitioner to attempt to characterize Mr. Chay and Michelle Chay as “adverse litigants in a divorce proceeding” as of May 16, 2022. Petition at 11.

IV. The Master-in-Equity did not err in finding that Mr. Chay’s transfer of his half-interest in real property was fraudulent in violation of the Statute of Elizabeth as it was an intra-family transfer made without valuable consideration.

The Master correctly found that the transfer of property without valuable consideration. As an initial determination, the trial court determined that the transfer was made without valuable consideration. The deed, on its face, stated “for and in consideration of the sum of One (\$1.00) Dollar and/or other good and valuable consideration.” R. 97, 99. In construing a deed, the court must determine the intent of the grantor. *K & A Acquisition Grp., LLC v. Island Pointe, LLC*, 383 S.C. 563, 581, 682 S.E.2d 252, 262 (2009). To determine the grantor’s intent, the deed must be construed as a whole. *Id.* The trial court made no specific findings as to whether the deed is unambiguous on its face, and no such argument was made and is therefore not preserved for appellate review. The trial court seemed to indicate that it would have considered extrinsic evidence regarding the deed construction, but given Mr. Chay’s failure to appear or participate, the court had to rely on the contents of the deed itself. R. 1, at 4.

Counsel for the Respondent argued at trial that the required Affidavit for Exempt Transfers, signed by Mr. Chay and attached and recorded as part of the deed, is evidence of the

² Mother’s Day 2022 was observed on May 8, 2022.

lack of consideration for the transfer. Specifically, the Affidavit avers that the deed was exempt from the deed recording fee. Counsel argued that if the consideration for the transfer was the forgiveness of debt, as alleged by Michelle Chay, Mr. Chay would be required to pay transfer tax, commonly known as “deed stamps” in the amount of the value of the debt to be forgiven and that the lack of such payment, and the claiming of exemption, is further evidence that the transfer was not for valuable consideration. R. 81, ll. 17 – 25.

The face of the Deed states the consideration is “\$1.00 and/or other good and valuable consideration.” The Affidavit for Exempt Transfers states the deed is exempt from recording fees because the value is less than \$100 pursuant to §12-24-30, which defines value as “the consideration paid or to be paid in money or money's worth for the realty including other realty, personal property, stocks, bonds, partnership interests, and other intangible property, the forgiveness or cancellation of a debt, the assumption of a debt, and the surrendering of a right. The fair market value of the consideration must be used in calculating the consideration paid in money's worth.” §12-24-30, S.C. Code Ann.

Viewing the deed and affidavit together, it is clear that there was no valuable consideration. The affidavit shows that the value of any potential forgiveness or cancellation of debt must be less than \$100. Viewed together, the documents are unambiguous and extrinsic evidence is not admissible to show the intent of the parties. “This Court has held that when multiple documents are executed contemporaneously in the course of and as a part of the same transaction, the Court may consider and construe the instruments together in order to ascertain the intention of the parties and the terms of the agreement.” *Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 608 S.E.2d 849 (S.C. 2005) (citing *Cafe Associates, Ltd. v. Gerngross*, 305 S.C. 6, 10, 406 S.E.2d

162, 164 (1991); Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Development Corp., 232 S.E.2d 20, 25, 268 S.C. 80, 89 (1977).

Having established that the transfer was voluntary, or without valuable consideration, on its face, the burden is on Michelle Chay, as transferee to establish, by clear and convincing evidence, that the transfer should not be considered fraudulent. The Master found that “regardless of intent, Michelle Chay has presented no credible evidence of indebtedness by Byunghwan Chay, nor was she able to demonstrate the amount alleged to be owed. She has further failed to present any evidence that such alleged debt was forgiven as consideration for the transfer.” R. 1, at 5. As Michelle Chay is not a party to this appeal, the findings regarding her burden of proof are now the “law of the case” and not subject to review.

Should this Court wish to review the findings of the trial court regarding Mr. Chay’s alleged indebtedness to, and forgiveness of indebtedness by, Michelle Chay, the Court will reach the same conclusion. Her testimony, and the unauthenticated bank records, admitted over objection, paint a picture that, while emotionally disheartening, can hardly be seen to meet the clear and convincing evidence standard. “Clear and convincing” evidence is an intermediate degree of proof “which will produce in the mind of the trier of facts a firm belief as to the allegations sought to be established.” *Anonymous v. State Bd. of Med. Examiners*, 329 S.C. 371, 375 n. 2, 496 S.E.2d 17, 18 n. 2 (1998); *accord Peeler v. Spartan Radiocasting, Inc.*, 324 S.C. 261, 266 n. 4, 478 S.E.2d 282, 283 n. 4 (1996). Michelle Chay is unable to meet her burden, in part, because she doesn’t know the amount of money her husband was allegedly indebted to her or her personal financial situation. She testified that from December of 2020 until May of 2022 she never checked her bank account, R. 59, l. 25 – 60, l. 8. She further testified that in the sixteen (16) years she was in business she only checked her account “a few times.” R. 60, ll. 10 – 11. In

fact, she testified that until the day before the hearing, more than four (4) years after the alleged discovery and forgiveness of Mr. Chay's debt, she was unaware that the \$380,000 she received from the sale of her business was deposited into her and her husband's joint bank account and was "afraid of what else that I don't know." R. 42, ll. 2 – 10, 38, l. 6. She offered, in support of her position, records from one bank account and two (2) demonstrative exhibits purported to be summaries of specific payments, withdrawals, and deposits into the joint account. R. 132, 217, 218. The bank records and demonstrative exhibits were admitted over Respondent's objection and at best represent a snapshot of what was one, of multiple, bank accounts. Michelle Chay testified that the summaries were accurate as to the payments she received from the sale of her business, R. 49, ll. 9 – 16, and deposits from, and withdrawals to, Natural Solutions Company. R. 50, l. 25 – 51, l. 4. Upon cross examination she testified that until the day before the hearing, she was unaware that Mr. Chay was making deposits, from his business, into their joint account. R. 60, ll. 14 – 18.

When her prior testimony regarding the accuracy of the summaries presented was questioned with the showing of a January 7, 2021, \$115,700 deposit from Natural Solutions Company that was omitted from R. 218, she testified "I don't know. Excuse me, sir. That's not my summary. Paper says it is. One thing that I know, I know what I sold my company for. I know how much money went into the account, I know how much money went out." R. 61, ll. 3 – 12. In one answer she managed to impeach her prior testimony twice. First, that she can't verify the accuracy of a summary that she now claims isn't hers, and, secondly, that she knew how much money was going into and out of the account, despite just learning the day before that proceeds from the sale of her business and deposits from Natural Solutions Company were being deposited into the joint account. When further questioned about a February 21, 2021 transfer of \$2,500 to "Chay Michelle", she testified that "all of these papers I do not look at them item by item" and

then accused her husband of making the transfer “somehow in my name.” R. 61, ll. 15 – 25.

Defendants’ Exhibit #2, R. 132, bank records show deposits to, and withdrawals from, a joint checking account held by Mr. and Mrs. Chay. She contends that these records are evidence of indebtedness of Mr. Chay. However, because funds were not transferred to Mr. Chay personally, the records cannot stand as evidence that Mr. Chay’s owed debt. In fact, the funds were transferred to a third party company. Absent a written agreement pursuant to the Statute of Frauds, any agreement for Mr. Chay to be liable for the debt of the third party company would be unenforceable. §32-3-10(2), S.C. Code Ann.; *Dyer v. Moss*, 325 S.E.2d 69, 284 S.C. 208 (S.C. App. 1984).

Sadly, Michelle Chay’s testimony shows a hard working woman who utterly failed to pay even the slightest bit of attention to her finances. She had no idea which account had which funds or to where deposits and withdrawals were coming or going and by whom. She is unable to identify what amount she claims she is owed and the records of Defendant’s Exhibit #2, R. 132, only further cloud whom is her alleged debtor. She possesses no evidence of debt such as promissory notes or contracts and, even if she is to be believed, failed to ensure that the deed conveying the interest of Mr. Chay to her accurately reflected the forgiveness of debt she alleges. Her testimony is simply not sufficient to meet her burden to establish both a valuable consideration and the bona fides of the transaction.

As an additional sustaining ground, Respondent contends that Defendant’s Exhibits 2, 3, and 4, R. 132, 217, 218, were admitted, over objection, in error. *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000). The bank records, and related demonstrative exhibits, constitute hearsay documents, not subject to exception, which were unauthenticated. Counsel for Respondent contemporaneously objected to each exhibit as it was offered. R. 46, ll.

17 – 21, 49, ll. 23 – 24, 50, l. 18. Should those objections been sustained, as they should have been, Michelle Chay’s contention of Mr. Chay’s indebtedness would have even less merit.

The Master-in-Equity correctly found that the transfer from Mr. Chay to Ms. Chay was without consideration and that she failed to meet her burden of proof. This Court should decline to grant Mr.Chay’s petition.

V. **The Master-in-Equity did not err in finding that Respondent failed to retain sufficient property to pay the debt.**

Peitioner, for the first time in his brief to the Court of Appeals, attempted to argue that Respondent failed to prove that Mr. Chay lacks sufficient funds to pay the debt.

Where a transfer is made without valuable consideration being exchanged, the transfer will be set aside only when the creditor establishes the following: (1) the grantor was indebted to the creditor at the time of the transfer; (2) the conveyance was voluntary; and (3) the grantor failed to retain sufficient property to pay his indebtedness to the creditor in full, not merely at the time of transfer, but in the final analysis when the creditor seeks to collect the debt.

Albertson v. Robinson, 371 S.C. 311, 317, 638 S.E.2d 81 (S.C. Ct. App. 2006), quoting, *Mathis v. Burton*, 319 S.C. 261, 265, 460 S.E.2d 406, 408 (Ct.App. 1995).

The Petitioner made no argument, either during the hearing or in post-trial motion, regarding Respondent’s proving of an essential element; Petitioner’s failure to retain sufficient property to pay his indebtedness. While the trial court found that the lack of evidence of asset retention presented on behalf of Mr. Chay as convincing, there was additional testimony by both Michelle Chay and Jonathan Chay regarding their knowledge of Mr. Chay’s assets, both at the

time of transfer and as of the date of the hearing, that support Respondent's position as additional sustaining grounds. A party who prevails in the lower court may raise on appeal any additional reasons why the appellate court should affirm the lower court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons were presented to or ruled on by the lower court. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000).

CONCLUSION

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